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San Cleuwen>», Celifornia

STHATEMENT BY FORMER PRESIRENT RICIHARD ETHLCH

I have been infcrmed that President Yorxrd nas y-=»rte.
me 2 full and absolute parcden for ary charges whisg
tight be brought against me for actions taken during

the  tine T woe Prsaddentl nf  Fhe ngdtad  OEasa s 0

accepting this pardon, I hope that his conpazsiotacs

¥

act will contribute to liiting the burlen cf Yacuwiya...

from ovr country.

Here ir Califcrnia, ny persrective on Vaierga... is
quite different than it was while I was emb-~.. zd
in the midst of the controversy, and whiie I w.:

still subject to the unrelenting deily demaiis ©F

the Presidency itsalf.

.
Looking back on what is still in my mind a comp? 2x
and cornfusing maze of events, decisions. pracstr2s.
and personalities, one thing I can se2 clearlr row
is that I was wrong in not actirg nora decisively
and more forthrightly in dealing with Watergate,
particularly when it reached the stage of judicial
procecdings and grew frobm a pelitical scandal into

a national tragedy.




No worés can describe the depth of my regrew ard
pain at the anguish my mistakes over Wateryate hare
causcd the Nation and tha Presidency --- & Hatdon

I so cdecply iove, and an institution T so qgroatly

I know that many fair-mincded pecple beli~ve thit ny
motivetions and actions in the Watergate afiasr

were intentionally self-serving and illegal. Y now
understand how my own mistakes and misjudgmnente

have contrxibuted té thait belief and seemod to soupHorc
it. This burden is the heaviest one of all

to bgar.

That the way.I;tried to deal with Watergats wes tha
wrong way is & burden I shall bear for every qay

of the life that is left to me.




Sept. 3, 1974 Memo PNy
Henry Ruth to L. u.vé.ou.mww

Re Richard Nixon i



WATERGATE SPECIAL PROSECUTION FORCE DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

Memorandum

TO : Leon Jaworski DATE: Sept. 3, 1974

Henry Ruth

SUBJECT: Mr. Nixon

The following matters are still under investigation
in this Office and may prove to have some direct
connection to activities in which Mr. leon is
personally involved: '

1. Tax deductions relating to the gift
of pre~Presidential papers.

2. The Colson obstruction of justice plea
in the Ellsberg matter.

3. The transfer of the national security
wire tap records from the FBI to the White
House. .

4. The initiating of wire tapping of
John Sears.

5. Misuse of IRS information.

6. Misuse of IRS through attempted initiation
of audits as to "enemies."

7. The dairy industry pledge and its
relationship to the price support change.

8. Filing of a challenge to the Washington
Post ownership of two Florida television
stations.

9. False and evasive testimony at the
Kleindienst confirmation ‘hearings as to
White House participation in Department
of Justice decisions about ITT.

10. The handling of campaign contributions
by Mr. Rebozo for the personal benefit of
Mr. Nixon.



None of these matters at the moment rises to
the leavel of our ability to prove even a probable
criminal violation by Mr. Nixon, but I thought you
ought to know which of the pending investigations
were even remotely connected to Mr. Nixon. Of course,
the Watergate cover-up is the subject of a separate

memorandum.

cc: Mr. Lacovara




Memo to Special ProsecutorV
on behalf of Richard Nixon




Memorandum to the
Special Prosecutor
on behalf of

Richard M. Nixon

This memorundum is submitted on behalf of
Richard M. Nixon to bring to the attention of the Special
Prosecutor facts and supporting legal authority which, we
submit, warrant a éecision not to seek indictment of the
formexr President. We wish to emphasize that this memorandum
focuses épecifically on issues of law rather than policy.
In so limiting this presentation we do not wish to imply that
all other considerations are irrelevant or inappropriate.
Indeed, we believe it is highly desirable and proper for the

Special Prosecutor to weigh in his judgment the possible

impact of such an indictment on the domestic spirit and on




international relations, as well as the more traditional

*
policy considerations entrusted to prosecutorial discretion.-/
Héwever, the purpose of this memorandum is solely to demon-
strate that one -~ and prcobably the most érucial -— legal pre-
requisite to indicting and prosecuting Mr. Nixon does not
exist: the ability of this government to assure him a fair
trial in accgrdance with the demands cof the Due Process Clause

of the Fifth Amendment and the right to trial by an impartial

jury guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment.

=/
Such intangible but none-the-less critical factors as
domestic and international relations certainly fall with-
in the ambit of the prosecutor's discretion as expressed
in the Standards Relating to The Prosecution Function and
The Defense Function, ABA Project on Standards for Criminal
Justice, March 1971, where it is stated that

". . . The prosecutor m2y in some circum-
stances and for good czuse consistent with
the public interest decline to prosecute,
notwithstanding that evidence exists which
would support a conviction. ABA Standards
§ 3.9(b).

A decision to forego prosecution because of overriding
concerns of the national interest is in keeping with
similar prosecutorial decisions to forego prosecution
rather than disclose confidential national security or
law-enforcement information required as evidence. United
States v. Andolchek, 142 F.2d 503 (24 Cir. 1944); United
States v. Beekman, 155 F.2d 580 (2d Cir. 1946); Chris-—
toffel v. United States, 200 F.2d 734 (D.C. Cir. 1952).




I. The Events and Publicity
Surrounding Watergate have
Destroyed the Possibility
of a Tria®’ Consistent with
Due Process Reguirements.

.

Recent events have completely and irrevaocally
eliminated, with respect to Richard M. Nixon, the necessary
premise of our system of criminal justice -- that, in the
words of Justice Holmes, ". . . the conclusions to be reached
in a case will be induced only by evidence and argument in
open court, not by any outside influence, whether of private
talk or public print." Pattexson v. Colorédo, 205 U.S. 454,‘
462 (1907). As reiterated by the Court in Turner v. Louisizna,
379 U.S. 466, 472 (1965):

"The reguiremuent that a jury's verdict

'must be ba:sad upon the evidence developed

.at trial' goes to the fundamental integrit:

of all that is embraced in the coi.stitutional
concept of trial by jury."

Never before in the history of this country have a
person's activities relating to possible criminal violations
been subjected to such massive public scrptiny, analysis and
debate. The events of the past two yvears and the media
coverage they received need not be.detailed here,‘for we are
sure thie Special Prosecutor is fully aware of the nature of

the media exposure generated. The simple fact is that the



national debate and two-year fixation of the media on Water-
gate has left indelible impressions on the citizenry, so
pervasive that the government can no longer assure Mr. Nixon
that any indictment sworn against him will’proéuce "a charge
fairly made and fairly tried in a public tribunal free of
prejudice, passion {and] excitement . . .* Chambers v.

Florida, 309 U.S. 227, 236-37, (1940).

Of all the events prejudicial to Mr. Nixon's right
to a fair trial, the most damaging have 5een the impeachmeant
- proceedings of the House Judiciary Committee. In those pro-
ceedings neither the definition of the "offense," the standard
of proof, the rules of evidence, nor the nature of the fact-
finding body, were compatible with our system of criminal
justice. Yet the entire country witnessed the proceedings,
with their all-pervasive, multi-media coverage and commentary.
And all who watched were repeatedly made aware that a committee
of their elected Representatives, all lawyers, had determined
upon solemn reflection to render an overwhelming verdict
against the Presidunt, a vexrdict on charges time and again
emphasized as constituting "high crimes and misdemeanors" for

which criminal indictments could be justified.



All of this standing alone would have caused even
thqse most critical of Mr. Nixon to doubt his chances of sub-
sequently receiving a trial free from preconceived judgments
of guilt. But the devastating culmination of the prbceedings
eliminated whatever room for doubt might still have remained
as the entire country viewed those among their own Represen-
tatives who had been the most avid and vociferou: defenders
of the President {and who had insisted on thé most exacting
standards of proof) publicly abandon his defense and join

those who would impeach him for "high crimes and misdemeanors.”

None of‘this is to say, or eveﬁ to imply, that the
impeachment inquirg was improper, in either its inception or
its conduct. The point here is that the impeachment process
having taken place in the manner in which it did, the con-
ditions necessary for a fair determination of the criminal

responsibility of its subject under our principles of law no

longer exist, and cannot be restored.

Even though the unicue televised congressional pro;\“””
ceedings looking to the possible impeachment of a President

leave us without close precedents to guide our judgments con-



cerning their impact on subseguent criminal prosecutions, one

court has grappled with the issue on a much more limited

scale and concluded that any subseguent trial must at minimum

await the tempering of prejudice created by the media coverage
of such events.

In Delaney v. United States, 199 F.2d 107 .{lst Cir.

1952), a District Collector of Internal Revenue was indicted

for receiving bribes. Prior to the tfial a subcommittee of

the House of Representatives conducted public hearings into

his conduct and related matters. The hearings generated mas-
sive publicity, particularly in the Boston area, inéluding
motion pilcture films and sound recordings, all of which "afforded
the public a previe; of the prosecution's case against Delaney
without, however, the safeguards that would attend a criminal
trial." 199 F.2d at 110. Moreover, the publicized testimony
"raﬁged far beyouxd matters relevant to the pending indictments."
199 F.2d at 110. Delaney was tried ten weeks after the close
of these hearings and was convicted by a jury. The Court of
Appeals reversed, holding that Delaney had‘been denied his

Sixth Amendﬁent vight to an impartinl jury by being forced to

"stand trial while the damaging effect of all that hostile

publicity may reasonably be thought not to have been crased 53
> 0
<
from the public mind." Id. 174, K?f/ﬁ-\\?%



The Court of Appeals did not suggest that the hear-
ings were themselves improper. Indeed, the court emphatically
stated that ". . . [ilt was for the Committee to decide whether

considerations of public interest demanded at that time a full-

dress public investigation . . ." Id. 114 (emphasis added).
But the court continued,

"If the United States, through its legisla-
tive department, acting ccnscientiously
pursuant to its conception of the public
interest, chooses to hold a public hearing
inevitably resulting in such damaging
publicity prejudicial to a person awaiting
trial on a pending indictment, then the

United States must accept the c¢-nsequence that
the judicial department, charged with the duty
of assuring the defendant a fair trial before
an impartial jury, may find it necessary to
postpone the trial until by lapse of time the
danger of the prejudice may reasonably be
thought to have been substantially removed.”

The principle expounded by the court in Delaney is
applicable here. Faced with allegations that the Watergate
events involved actions by the President, ﬁhe House of Reére—
sentatives determined that not only was an impeachment inquiry
required, but that the inquiry must be open to the public so
that the charges and evidence in support thereof could be
viewed and analyzed by the American people. We nced not fault
Congress in that decision. Perhaps -- in the interest of the

country -- there was no other choice. But having pursued a

>



course purposely designed to permit the widest dissemination
of and exposure to the issues and evidence involved, the
government must now abide by that decision which produced the
very environment which forecloses a fair trial for the subject
of their inguiry.

The foregoing view is not at all incompatible with
the Constitution, which permits the trial of a President fol-
lowing impeachuent -- and therefore, some might argue, con-
dones his trial after his leaving office. Nothing in the
~Constitution withholds from & former President the same indi-
vidual rights afforded others. Therefore, if developments

. ) . .
in means of communication have reached a level at which their
use by Congress in the course of impeachment proceedings for-
ever taints the public's mind, then the choice must be to

forego their use or forego indictment following impeachment.

Here, the choice has been made.

Further demonstration of the wholly unique nature
of this matter appears in the public discussion of a pardon
for the former President -- which discussion adds to the atmos-

phere in which a trial consistent with due process is impossible.



Since the resignation of Mr. Nixon, the news media
has been filled with ¢ommentary and debate on the issue of
whether the former President should be pardoned if charged
with offenses relating to Watcrgate. As with nearly every other
controversial topic arising from the Watergate events, the
media has sought out the opinions of both public officials and
private citizens, even conducting public opinion polls[on the
guestion. A recurring theme expressed by many has been that
Mr. Nixon has suffered enough and should not be subjected to
further punishment, certainly not imprisonment.

Without regard to the merits of that view, the fact
that there exists a public sentiment in favor of pardoning
the former President in<itself prejudices the possibility of
Mr. Nixon's receiving a fair trial. Despite the most fervent
disclaimers, any juror who is aware of the general public's
disposition will undoulrtedly be influenced in his judgment,
thinking that it is highly probable that a vote of guilty will
not result in Mr. Nixon's imprisonment. Indeed, the impact
of the public debinte on this issue will undoubtedly fall not
only on the jury but also on the grand jury and the Special
Prosecutor, lifting some of the constraints which might other-
wise have militated in favor of a decision not to prosecute.

Human nature could not be otherwise.
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We raise this point not to suggest that the decision
of whether to prosecute in this case cannot be reached fairly,
but rathe: to emphasize that this matter -- like none other
before it and probably after it -- has been so thoroughly
subjected to extransous and highly unusual forces that any
prosecution of Mr. Nixon could not fairly withstand detached

evaluation as complying with due process.

II, The Nationwide Public
Exposure to Watergate
Precludes the Impaneling
of an Impartial Jury

The Sixth Amendment guarantees a defendant trial
by jury, a guara:tee that has consistently been held to mean
that eacl* juror impaneled -- in the often quoted language of

Lord Coke —-- will be “indifferent as he stands unsworn." Co.

Litt. 155h. See Ixvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717 (1961); Turner v.

Louisiana,ﬁ379 U.S. 472 (1§65). The very nature of the
Watergate events and the massive public discussion of Mr. Nixon's
relationship to them have made it impossible to f£ind any array

of jurymen who can mect the Sixth Amendment standard.

On numerous occasions the Supreme Court has held

that the nature of the publicity surrounding a case was such

that jurors exposed to it could not possibly have rendered a



verdict based on the evidence. Sce Sheppard v. Maxwell, 3384

U.S. 333 (1966); Rideau v. Louisiana, 373 U.S. 723 (1963);

Irvin v. Dowd, supra; Marshall v. United States, 360 U.S. 310

(1959). The most memorabl: of these was Sheppard v. Mamwell,
in which the Court, describing the publicity in the Cleveland
metropolitan area, referred time and again to media technigues
enmployed there —- which in the Watergate case have been
utilized on a nationwide scale and for a much longer period

of time. The following excerpts from the Court's opinion are
exemplary:

"Throuchout this period the newspapers
emphasized evidence that tended to incrim-
inate Sheppard and pointed out discrepan-
cies in his statements to authorities."

p. 340.

* %k %

"On the sidewalk and steps in front of the
courthouse, television and newsreel cameras
were occasionally used to take motion
pictures of the participants in the trial,
including the jury and the judge. Indeed,
one television broadcast carried a staged
interview of the judge as he entered the
courthouse. 1In the corridors outside the
courtroom there was a host of photographers
and television personnel with flash cameras,
portable lights and motion picture cameras.
This group photographed the prospective
jurors during selection of the jury. After the
trial opened, the witnesses, counsel, and
jurors were photographed uand televised when-
ever they entered or left the courtroom."”

pp. 343-44.




“The daily record of the proceedings was
made available to the newspapers and the
testimony of each witness was printed
verbatim in the local editions, along with
objections of counsel, and rulings by the
judge. Pictures of Sheppard, the judge,
counsel, pertinent witnesses, and the jury
often accompanied the daily newspaper and
television accounts. At times the news-
papers published photographs of exhibits
introduced at the trial, and the rooms of
Sheppard's house were featured along with
relevant testimony." pp. 344-45.

* k%
"On the second day of voir dire examination
a debate was staged and broadcast live
over WHX radio. The participants, news-
paper reporters, accused Sheppard's couunsel
of throwing roadblocks in the way of the
prosecution and asserted that Sheppard con-
ceded hi§ guilt by hiring a prominent
criminal lawyer." p. 346.%

The Sheppard murder was sehsational news and the media reacted
accordingly. In the course they destroyed the state's ability
to afford Sheppard a fair trial.

The sensation of Watergate is a hundredfold that of

the Sheppard murder. But the media technigues remain the

"

~/ The prejudicial publicity in Sheppard commenced well be-
fore trial, even before charges were brought, and con-
tinued throughout the duration of the prosecution.
Although Mr. Nixon has not been criminally tried, the
press coverage of the impeachment proceedings and Water-—
gate related criminal trials reflect obvious similavities
to the Cheppard coverage.



same and the destruction of an environment for a trial con-
sistent with due process has been nationwiée. The Supreme

Court should not -- upon an appeal by Mr. Nixon -- have to

recount for history the unending litany of prejudicial

publicity which served to deprive the President of the rights

afforded others.

The bar against grosecution raised by the publicity
in this case defies remedy by the now commoh technigues of
delaying indictment or trial, changing venue, or scrupulously
screening prospective jurors. Although thé court in Delanevy,
supra, could not envision a case in which the prejudice from
publicity would be."so permanent and irxadicablg” that as a
matter of law there could be no trial within the foreseeable
future, 199 r.2d, at 112, it also could not have envisioned
the national Watergate saturation of the past two years.

Unlike others accused of involvement in the Water-
gate events, Mr. Nixocn has been the subject of unending public
efforts "to make the case" against him. The guestion of
Mr. Nixon's responsibility for the events has bucen the central
political issue of the era. As each piece of new evidence
becanme public it invariably was analyzed from the viewpoeint

of whether it brought the Watergate events closer to "the



Oval Office" oxr as to "what the President knew and when he
knew it." The focus on others was at most indirect.

In short, no delay in tfial, no change of venue,
and no screening of prospective jurcrs could assure that
the passions arrvoused by Watergate, the impeachment proceed-
ings, and the President's resignation wou:ld dissipate to the
point where Mr. Nixon coala receive the fair trial to whi;h
he is entitled. The reasons are clear. As the Supreme

Court stated in Rideau v. Louisizna, 373 U.S. 717, 726 (1963):

For anyone who has ever watched television
the conclusion cannot be avoided t 1t this
spectacle, to the tens of thousanc of
people who saw and heard it, in a very real
sense was . . . [the] trial . . . Any su -
seguent court proceedings in a community so
pervasively exposed to such a spectacle
could be but a hollow formality.

Not only has thé media coverage of Watergate been
pervasive and overwhelmingly adverse to Mr. Nixon, but nearly
every member of Congress and political commentator has rendered
a public opinion on his guilt or innocence. Indeed for nearly
two years sophisticated public opinion polls have surveyed
the people as to their opinion on Mr. Nixon's involvement in
Watergate and whether he should be impeached. Now the polls
ask whether Mr. Nixon should be indicted. Under such condi-

tions, few Americans can have failed to huve formed an opinion



as to Mr. Nixon's guilt of the charges made against him. Few,

if any, could -- even under the most careful instructions
from a court -- expunge such an opinion from their minds so
as to serve as fair and impartial jurors. "The influence

that lurks in an opinion once formed is so persistent that

it unconsciously fights detachiient from the mehtal processes
of the average man." Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717, 727 (19561).
And as Justice Robert Sackson oﬁce cbserved, "The naiveA .

assumption that prejudicial effects can be ovérccme by in-

structions to the jury, . . . all practicing lawyers know to

be unmitigated fiction." Xrulecwitch v. United States, 336

U.S. 440, 453 (1%49%) (concurring opinion). See also Delaney v.

United Statcs, 199 F.2d 107, 112-113 (lst Cir. 1952).

CONCILUSION

The media accounts of Watergate, the political
columnists' debates, the daily felevised proceedings of the
House Judiciary Comaittee, the public opinion polls, the
televised dramatizations of Oval Office conversations, the
newspapey cartoons, the "talk-show" discussions, the letters-

to-the-editor, the privately placed commercial ads, even



bumper stickers, have totally saturated the American people
with Watergate. 1In the procers the citizens of this country
—-— in uncalculablé numbers —-- from whom a jury would be
drawn have formulated opinions as to the culpability of

Mr. Nixon. Those opinions undoubtedly reflect both politi-
cal and philosophical judgments totally divorced from the
facts of Watergate. Some are assuredly reaffirmations of
personal likes and dislikes. But few indeed are premised
only on the facts. And absolu&ely none rests solely on evidence
admissible at a criminal trial. Consequently, any effort to
prosecute Mr. Nixon would require something no other trial

has ever reguired --— the eradication from the conscious and

subconscious of eveiy juror the opinions formulated over a
pexriod of at least two years, during which time the juro;
has been subjected to a day-by-day presentation of the Water-
gate case as it unfolded in both the judicial and political
arena.

Undexr the circumstances, it is inconceivable that
the government could produce a jury free from actual bias.
But the standard is higher than that, for the events of the

past two years have created such an overwhelrn 1g 7ikelihood
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of prejudice that the absence of due process would be in-

*
herent in any trial of Mr. Nixon.mm/ It would be forever
regrettable if history were to record'that this countxy --
in its desire to maintain the appearance of equality under
law ~~'saw fit to deny to the former President the right of
a fair trial so jealously preserved to others through the

constitutional reguirements of due process of law and of

trial by impartial jury.

Herbert J. Miller, Jx.

MILIER, CASSIDY, LARRCCA & LEWIHN

1320 19th Street, N.W., Suite 500
y Washington, D. C. 20036

(202) 293-6400

Of Counsel
William H. Jeffress, Jr.
R. Stan Mortenson

"It is true that in most cases involving
claims of due process deprivations we
require a showving of identifiable preju-
dice to the accused. Nevertheless, at
times a ([procedure] employed by the State
involves such a probability that prejudice
will result that it is deemed inherently
lacking in due process." DBstes v. Texas,
381 U.S. 532, (1965).




Cabinet Meeting 8/6/74




GENTLEMEN,

AT THE OUTSET I WOULD LIKE TO MAKE SEVERAL POINTS.

P'IRST, EVERYOWNE HERE RECOGNWIZES THE DIFFICULT POSITION

I AaM IN, I AM A PARTY IN INTEREST.

SECOND, NO ONE REGRETS MORE THAN I DO THIS WHOLE

TRAGIC EPISODE. I HAVE DEEP PERSONAL SYMPATHY FOR YQU
"

MR. PRESIDENT, AND YOUR FINE FAMILY.

R it w

THIRD, I WISH TO EMPHASIZE TIHAT HAD I KNOWN AND HAD

" ity

IT BEENWN DISCLOSED 70 ME WHAT HAS BELN DISCLOSED IN REFERDNCE

TO THE WATERGATE AFFAIR IN THE LAST TWENTY-FOUR HOURS, I

WOULD NOT HAVE MADE A NUMBER OF THE STATEMENTS THAT I HAVE

MADE, EITHER AS MINORITY LEADER OR AS VICE PRESIDERT OF
THE UNITED STATES.

FOURTH, I DO HOT EXPECT TO MAKE ANY RECOMMENDATTON

TODAY TO THE PRESIDENT AS TO WHAT HE SHOULD DO AND NEITHER
A ——————— . . I——

DO I EXPDCT TO MAKE ANY SUCH RECOMMENDATION TO ANY OF THE

OTHERS AT THIS MEETING.

(MORE)




FIFTH, WHETHER THE FULL DISCLOSURLS WILL MEET THE
CONSTITUTIONAL DEFINITION OF AN IMPEACHABLE OFFENSE IS A

MATTER THAT CAN ONLY BE FINALLY RESOLVED BY THE UNITED STATES

SENATE IN A PROCEEDING AS PROVIDED T'OR IN THE CONSTITUTIOHN.

FINALLY, LET ME ASSURE YOU THAT I EXPECT TO CONTINUE

-

TO SUPPORT FULLY THE ADMINISTRATION'S FOREIGN POLICY AND

FIGHT AGAINST INFLATION.

e —




Statement by VP 8/5/74




STATEMENT BY VICE PRESIDENT GERATD R. FORD

OFFICE OF THE VICE PRESTLLUNT

WASHINGTON, D.C.

FOR IMMEDIATE RELFASE CONTACT:
fionday, August 5, 1074 Paul Miltich 456-236k

I have not listened to the tapes nor have I read the transcripts of the
President's conversations with Mr. Haldeman. Without knowing what was said

and the context of it my camment would serve no useful purpose and I shall

have none. i

Indeed, I have come to the conclusion that the public interest is no
longer served by repetition of my previously expressed belief that on the basis
of all the evidence known to me and to the American people the President is

ot guilty of an impeachable offense under the Constitutional definition of
"treason, bribery or other.high crimes and misdemeanors." Inasmuch as addi.ior~

al evidence is about to be forthcoming rrom the President, which he says mey

be damaging, I intend to respectfully decline to discuss impeachment matters in

et

public or in response to questions until the facts are more fully aviilable. .

—

The wnole truth should be the objective of the trial before the Senat=s.
Under the Constitution the Vice President is relieved of his role as Presidin-
Officer of the Senate when it sits to try a President on impeachment charges.
The wisdom of this provision is obvious, for the Vice President regardless of
his personal feelings is a party of interest as the Constitutional successor
if a President is removed from cffice. Since President Andrew Johnson s

himselt’ a Vice President who succeeded to the Presidency ugon the death o7



fraram Linco'n, and no provision then existed for filling a vacancy in the
Vice Ppesidoney, there are no precedents to guide me except my own ccmmon

aod my consclence. Both tell me to let my widely known views on the im-

e
L2258

peachment issue stand unt.l I have reason to change them and to refuse further

=

comment at this time.

There is another compelling reason for my decision. When I was nominated
by the President to be Vice President .ten monchs ago, I promised the Congress
that confirmed me that I would do my very best to be a calm communicator and
ready conciliator between the Executive and Legislative branches of our Federal
govermment. I have done so. But in the impeachment. process the President and
the Congress are now in an adversary relationship which as deeply divides the

legislators as it does the people they represent.

There are many urgent matters on America's agenda in which I hope to con-
tinue to serve this great country as a communicator and conciliator. The busi-
ness of government must go on and the genuine needs of the people must be served.
I believe I can make a better contribution to this end by not involving myself

daily in the impeachment debate, in which I have no Constitutional role.

#iE




VD Press Conf, 8/3/74
(New Orleans)




~zd

VICE PRESIDENT FORD'S PL..sS CONFERENCE, AUGUST 3, 1974
NEW ORLEANS FAIRMONT HOTEL

Ques: Inaudible.

Vice President: I'll simply repeat what I've said. I think the situation
has ~roded and the possibility is that the vote will be unfavorable to the
President,

Q. =: Inaudible.

Vice Precident: In none of the n1eet1ngs was there any discussion of the

e e s I a—— e S

resignation of the President. I did meet with Mr, Simons, Secretary of

"

the Treasury, because the day after he got back from his trip to the Middle
East he called and wanted to fully brief me on what he observed and what his
views were on the oil problem and related matters. Because of the jammed
up schedule I didn't have a chance to see Mr. Ash. We scheduled him, I

t hink, either Monday or Tuesday. I met_‘.vith Bill Tiiamons and the others
on the legislative programs. Unfortunately, Bill  ould noc be there but

the other were so the me etings o'her than the one with Al H’alg were the
TR - e

routine meetings that I have with the President's legislative representatives,

e,
cabinet officers, who whenever they think they have a message to give me,
they call and we get together, Yes.

Ques: Inaudible.

Vice President: I think the strategy is what it has always been; that the

fact= should get out, be debated and on the basis of the facis the President

-

and his advisors feel that he is not guilty of an v-npeachable offense. I think

s e
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it's a straightforward strategy now as it has been in the past.

i ————._

—

Ques: Inaudible.
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Vice President: My trips out were planned some months ago and just

happened to coincide with the President's situation in the House of



Representatives. There was no coordination between this trip and the current
situation in the House of Representatives.

Ques: Inaudible,

“Vice President: Well, the full discussion of the evidence before the cominittee,
the full discussion of any and all evidence that's available and to get through
Chuck Wiggins, Dave Dennis, Charlie Sandman (sp) and others of the debate

on the President's point of view,

Ques: Inaudible,.

Vice President: No, there was no discussion of my travels, The Whi
House gets a copy of my travel schedule. They know where I'm going and there
was no discussion of any change in that regard. There was no discussion of
any change in my role in the program to try and get the best foot forward as

far as the President's concerned.

Ques: Inaudible,

Vice President: Well, we're a long way from any final action in the Congress
on matters now or to be presently before the House, I can only repeat under
these circumstances my oft-said statement that I have no intention of running
for any political office in 1976, Yes.,

Ques: Inaudible.

Vice President: Number 1, Mr. Treen had nothing to do whatsoever with
Watergate. So, what's happened as far as individuals are concerned, Mr,
Treen has no connection whatsoever with Watergate. Mr, Treen canrun

on his fine service to his constituents., He can be a candidate in support

of what I think are the sound policies of the Nixon Administration in

achieving peace, maintaining it and building for pcace in the future and

2
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Mr., Treen stands for the policies which I think are sound for peace and a
solid economy and if he continues the fine service to his constituents

personal interest in their problems, I think Mr. Treen has a good record
Ques: Inaudible,

Vice President: I don't understand.

Ques: (Inaudible)

on
Vice President: Well, I think that Mr. Treen running/his own of a record
of fine service with no connection whatsoever with people involved in
Watergate, I'm delighted to be here to speak up on his behalf, Well, I
don' t think the American people are going to blame every republican just
because of the misdeeds of a few. Just for example, there are some members
of Congress on the democratic side who in one way or another, appear to be
involved in some illegal, unethical (whichever you want to call it) campaign
funding. - I don't blame every democrat just because some seem to have made
a mistake. I don't think the American people will either. Yes.

Ques: Inaudible,

Vice President: Well, I meet rather frequeritly with General Haig. We have

R A e E——

a number of matters, a number of things, that we frequently discuss: legis-~

lation, the situation as far as Watergate is concerned. It was not an extra-
O e B g 0 B TR
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ordinary meeting, if that's what you want me to say. It was an ordinary

Ny

A R S ey = ax2e . 4

meeting of the kind that we frequently have and has no extra-ordinary impli-
m

cafions.

Ques: Inaudible.



Vice President: I'm not going to speculate on that. That's too far down the
road,
‘Ques: Inaudible.

Vice President: Well. I got a telephone call from Senator Bob Griffin con-
e < pr—— e

.

cerning a local Michigdn matter. Yes.

Ques: Inaudible.

Vice President: Well, I think it would be a tragedy because of the fine job

that Dave Treen's done. Mr. Treen ran in a district that has been held by

a democrat for almost a century or more. He won by, as I recall, 54- or

55 per cent, That's not what you would call a big margin, but having won
and having done a good job, I'm not going to speculate on whether it's back-

lash. I just think it would be a tragedy because he's been on one of the most

important committees, the Committee on Armed Services, that has a great

connection with this area and having done a good job I jud think it would be

most unfortunate.

Ques: Inaudible. /
v/

Vice President: It is because d the fine quality of Dave Tree and—tlx/e fact
that he was elected in 1972 as the only republican in this area. I think

Dave Treen is an extraordinarily able member of the Congress and I'm
delighted to come down here to participate in any way I can to be helpful.
Ques: Inaudible.

Vice President: I can't say for sure on that because the circumstances may
vary but today, because d the 1 imited time in the threce areas where I spoke

there were other things that I fhought were more important, I haven't made

a decision on the particular question that you asked.
A



Ques: Inaudible.

Vice President: I have read most if not all of it and on the basis of what I

‘have read and what I have heard, I've coimie o e conclision as I've said

e o S
many times that I think the President Is innocent of an impeachable offense.
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Ques: Inaudible.

Vice President: Let me say those transcripts don't confer sainthood on

e e p— A g

anybody and I don't like some of the things that were done and some of the

————
—
—

things that ﬂép’pen’ed’ but that's quite different from an impeachable offense.
SR e R ————

I don't like some of the things that were done under previous democratic

as well as republican presidential administrations, but despite my disapproval
of those things, that doesn't mean that that president should have been im-
peached. There's a very severe and serious difference between what I don't
like as to an admini.stration whether it's Johnson or Truman or Eisenhower

or Kennedy. There's some things I didn't like, And I don't like some things
that happened as reflected in the tapes, but that's quite different, Seriously

different from an impeachable offense.

Ques: Inaudible,

Vice President: My view. is that censure is less serious. Therefore;—if the

alternative was presented and if I were in the House I would favor it, butl
can't tell you how it's going to turn out because it's something that I have no
part of not being in the House.

Ques: Inaudible.

Vice President: Well, I think some of the comments that have been made in

the committees, some of the news media observations, some of the public



expression, I think that the President has been well informed that some of
the things that took place, some of the comments in the transcripts, were
.not to the public's liking I think the message has..vvcsssee...(could be
'has gotten there''),

Ques: Inaudible.

Vice President: You mean the 64 that are being..... Well, I have read or

heard or heard about all the evidence that went to the commuittee. »I have

-—-—,
not heard of the 64 that are in the proce«s of being delivered t6 Judge
L o

Sirica.
Ques: Inaudible,

Vice President: If that was the alternative to impeachment, yes.

I (unfinished)

Ques: Inaudible.
Vice President: No: I would prefer that over the other because I think that
does reflect some of the things that the public don't approve of the way the
office was run.

Ques: Inaudible.

Vice President: Well, you so surprised me by the fact that we are getting

off a one-track mind here that I'm hardly prepared..........thank you
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Vice President: ..........people here and I welcome the old folks back

again. Thank you; it's an opportunity that I look forward to to answer any

questions, Yes.

Ques: Mr. Vice President. This morning in the local news here, there
was a comment about the resolution introduced by Republican Paul Finley
calling for a censure measure rather than impeachment. Have you ever
seen afiything like this happen .........than go through the long ordeal
of the impéachment process for thé nation?

Bies Presiden "f I had my druthers, I would rather have the House of
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Representatlves vote as I think the facts justify which is acqu1tta1 But

T R —— AL L A e I AR AT e + A T I A S

if you have no alternative, except a vote for impeachment or censure,
certainly I would prefer the censure,

Ques: Mr. Vice President. In the past weeks there have been numerous
editorials and news stories suggesting very politely that it's time for you
to shut up. You have now been to three cities here in Mississippi today.
On all of the occasions you did not talk about the President's impeachment
problems. Have you decided to heed this advice and retire to the sidelines?
Vice President: Well, as you have noticed, I'm sure, on each of the three
e, AL e

places I spoke in Mississippi: Golde.n Triangle, Jackson and here in
Hattiesburg and Laurel I have spoken out very strongly on behalf of the
President as the architect of peace and that he has achieved something

that no other President has accomplished. In the limited tirmme that I have

in these engagements, I think that it iz vitally important to speak about the
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affirmative things which I have done., I don't want anybody to get the
wrong impression . My views are just as strong today as they were two

days ago. I believe the President is innocent of any impeachable offense

and I haven't changed my mind.

Ques: Are you going to continue saying this or are you going to retire to

the sidelines at their suggestion?

Vice President: Well, I am going to do as I have done here in Mississippi -

to come and talk with people or listen to people., If I'm asked as you have
asked me, I will answer the questions on tlis occasion as I have in the past
that I think the “resident is innocent but in the limited time {and I think they
gave me five minutes or maybe six minutes) I had to decide what was the

more important thing to say. But, I doii't -vant ny impression created that

I have changed my rmhind about the Presideni's innocence.

Ques: Mr. Vice President. In May of this year you stated that you thought

the vote of the House would be about fifty-fifty for or against impeachment. How
do you feel about it today?

Vice Piresident: I think the situation in the House has eroded considerably.

The odds are significantly changed.

Ques: Mr. Vice President. In spite of the strategy of our own Corg ressmen,
the Southern strategy has definitely been drastically damaged by Watergate.

A good example is the pro-impeachment vote of Representative Walter Flowers
of Alabama. If the President is convicted in the Senate, do you feel that you
can regain this loss to Southern support and if so, how will you do it?

Vice President: I've always had a great many friends in the south and the

)



House, both democratic as well as republican. During the period that I
served in the House, we went from no republicans in the ten or eleven states
to, I think, 33 or 34 at the present time. I like to believe that maybe I helped
.in this process. I can assure you that I'm going to maximize my efforts as

I think I've done today to work to elect and reelect republican members of the
House. I think it's important, I think it's vital, that we have some balance

in every state between democrats and republicans in the Congress, I

hink it's good; I think it's healthy for America.

Ques: You stated that you think the President had eroded, had lost his
strength, as I understood it, in the House.
Vice President: That's right.

Ques: Do you now think he will be impeached?

Vice President: I sucpect tha the odds are such, unless there's some change,
theaheé ray be. 3

Ques: You had a meeting the other day with General Haig. Afterwards your
Press Secret: ry, Mr. Milti_ch said that you had discussed impeachment and so
forth and he also said that you had been doing a lot of thinking with regard to
your position on impeachment and when the proper time comes you're going

to make your views known. Has the proper time come?

Vice President: I have met with Al Haig, I don'f think this is unusual because
I meet with him. I would say, at least twice a week every weck, We did on this
occasion. as we have in the past, met to discuss our impressions on what

the situation was in the House, what could be done if anything (o convince the
members of the House that the President was innocent as both of us feel.

Now, I don't think that what you reported onc of my staff members said was

5



accurate as to iy feelings. I never told a sta’f member.on my part that I

was changing my porition as to the innocence or _uilt of the President, I

still believe the President is innocent of any impeachablé offense and any-
body on my staff who thinks I've char ed is wrong. Now. perhaps there comes
a time when it is advisable under the circumstances for me to say I have this
viewpoint; I'm not going to say any more but don't come to the conclusion,

b y my lack of speaking, that I have backed off. I have not.
Ques: You have come to that time where ...vvveeesnn.
Vice President: No, I don't think I've come to that time.
Ques: When was the last time you saw the President?
Vice President: About ten days ago.

Ques: In San Clemente?

Vice President: Yes.

Ques: Governor Wallace said he couldn't be here because he had a prior
engagement that could have been broken if this had been an official visit
rather than a political visit. What do you feel about this?

Vice President: I would never under any circumstances criticize any local
public official or state public official. I understand very well the problem
of commitments, speaking commitments, or other commitments that some-
body in public life has and let me assure you and the Governor that I would be
delighted to see him either in Washington or when I come back. I just
understand the practical problems that he has.

Ques: In the eyent that you are elevated to the Presidency through impcach-
ment processes, what are yvour plans for the Cabinet?

Ans: Well, I think it's inapprop iate for me to talk abou! those specifics.

A



Ques: Now that your political struggle was recently used to describe the
impeachment proceedings against President Nixon, with the President

being the underdog, do you believe that this is adequate description of what

is happening in Washington at the present.

Vice President: I think the President is being attacked in a partisan way by

a segment of the members of the Congress. I've said it before and I reiterate
it here. The eight members on the committee on judiciary th:t voted against
me had no moral or éthical or other reasons for voting against me except

that they didn't agr e with my political philosophy. The thirty-five in the
House who voted against me had the same reasons. They had no other reason.
Théf're sort of the hard core of this element, and I think it's partisan.

Ques: You stated that this trip would be both a political visit to Mississippi
and recreational. Do you plan to take off some time after your visit to our
State?

Vice President: Well, I'm going on from here to New Orleans, I'm going to
make a speech there this evening and I hope to play, maybe, some golf

tomorrow.

Ques: Monday, House Minority Leadér John Rhodes. ..o ean.

N\

cessss...he was going to hold a press conference presumably to offeT Tis

thoughts on the impeachment question. Do you view this, if he does go for
impeachment, as a serious setback to the White Fiouse strategy?

Vice President: Since I don't know what John Rhodes is going to say, I
don't think I should speculate. What he says are his words and I don't
think I should forecast or speculate as to the impact of them so with that

observation, I think I'll wait to hea: what John says.

)



Ques: Today in your address you noted the efforts of the President in
Foreign relations. Do you feel that the impeachment proccedings have
.some‘."hat 2ffected our foreign relations?

Vice President: I don't think the impeachment proceedings thus far have
had an adverse impact on the conduct of our foreign affairs. After all we
have been extrenely successful. The President ended a war, brought
back our POWs got involved in and successfully ended the war in the
Middle East. I can't sec any evidence of any advearse infipact so far. But,
it is conceivable and it is possible that the prolongation of this pm cess could
have an adverse impact on our problems both overseas as well as at home.

I hope not bt it is conceivable.

Ques: Why is it that when supporters of the President go around talking,

are seen on television,....cveveveeesss....they always totally skirt the
domestic side. We know the President's forte is foreign policy, what is

going on here? The President came £0 Jackson 0 . uveenvs v vs e Measure
UP nesssnnsss ssnnsssesConomy in the second ,¢.4.:.+++.8%8d everybody who
Vice President: Let me ask this question. I understand that unemployment in
he state of Mississippi is the lowest of almost any state and that you're very
proud of it. I understand that you're moving into an industrial development
here in Mississippi that you're very proud of it. Are you saying that
Mississippi is unhappy?

Answer: No, I'm not saying that Mississippi is unhappy. I'm not saying
e ORS

that the Federal Government deserves credit for that either. )
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Vice President: Well, I happen to believe fromwhat I hear that Mississippi
is just going like mad and I'm proud of them.

Answer: Inaudible.

Vice President: I would rather have, and I think the country would rather
have, jobs rather than a Federal program. I think it's far better for a
person to work for either the local Government or private enterprise than

for some program . There's nothing sacrosanct about a Federal program.
The quicker we get rid of them all the better off we'll be. And, the point

I try to make is I want people who used to work for Federal programs to have
a job in private enterprise and that's what we need and that's what I under-
stand you're doing in Mississippi.

Ques: Inaudible.

Answer: Well, my words today ar: the same as they were from October 12th.
I have no intention c:f being a candidate for any political office in 1976 and I
can't look down the road that far. I'll just repeat what I've said in the past.
Ques: Thank you Mr. Vice President.

Vice President: Thank you very much., See you all later.
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THE WHITE HOUSE

STATEMENT BY THE PRESIDENT

I have today instructed my attorneys to make available to the House
Judiciary Committee, and I am making public, the transcripts of three
conversations with H, R. Haldeman on June 23, 1972. I have also turaned
over the tapes of these conversations to Judge Sirica, as part of the
process of my compliance with the Supreme Court ruling.

On April 29, in announcing my decision to make public the original set of
White House transcripts, I stated that "as far as what the President personally
knew and did with regard to Watergate and the cover-up is concerned, these
materials -- together with those already made available -- will tell it all. "

Shortly after that, in May, I made a preliminary review of some of the 64
taped conversations subpoenaed by the Special Prosecutor,

Among the conversations I listened to at that time were two of those of

June 23, Although I’ recognized that these presented potential problems, I
did not mform my staff or my Counsel of it, or those arguing my case, nor
did I amend my submission to the Judiciary Committee in order to include
and reflect it, At the time, I did not realize the extent of the implications
which these conversations might now appear to have. As a result, those
arguing my case, as well as those passing judgment on the case, did so with
information that was incomplete and in some respects erroneous. This was
a serious act of omission for which I take full responsibility and which I
deeply regret.

Since the Supreme Court's decision twelve days ago, I have ordered my
Counsel to analyze the 64 tapes, and I have listened to a number of them
myself. This process has made it clear that portions of the tapes of these
June 23 conversations are at variance with certain of my previous statemeants,
Therefore, I have ordered the transcripts made available immediately to

the Judiciary Committee so that they can be reflected in the Committee's
report, and included in the record to be considered by the House and Senate,

In a formal written statement on May 22 of last year, I said that shortly
after the Watergate break-in I became concerned about the possibility that
the FBI investigation might lead to the exposure either of unrelated covert
activities of the CIA, or of sensitive national security matters that the
so-called "plumbers' unit at the White House had been working on, because
of the CIA and plumbers connections of some of those involved, I said that
I therefore gave instructions that the FBI should be alerted to coordinate
with the CIA, and to ensure that the investigation not expose these sensztive
national security matters.

That statement was based on my recollection at the time -- some eleven
months later -- plus documentary materials and relevant public testimony
of those iavolved.

MORE
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The June 23 tapes clearly show, however, that at the time I gave those
instructions I also discussed the political agpects of the situation, and that
I was aware of the advantages this course of action would have with respect
to limiting possible public exposure of involvement by persons connected
with the re-election committee.

My review of the additional tapes has, so far, shown no other major in-
consistencies with what I have previously submitted. While I have no way

at this stage of being certain that there will not be others, I have no reason

to believe that there will be. In any case, the tapes in their entirety are

now in the process of being furnished to Judge Sirica. He has begun what may
be a rather lengthy process of reviewing the tapes, passing on specific claims
of executive privilege on portions of them, and forwarding to the Special
Prosecutor those tapes or those portions that are relevant to the Watergate
investigation.

It is highly unlikely that this review will be completed in time for the House
debate. It appears at this stage, however, that a House vote of impeachment
is, as a practical matter, virtually a foregone conclusion, and that the issue
will therefore go to trial in the Senate. In order to ensure that no other
significant relevant materials are withheld, I shall voluntarily furnish to the
Senate everything from these tapes that Judge Sirica rules should go to the
Special Frosecutor.

I recognize that this additional material I am now furmshmg may further
damage my case, especially because attention will be drawn, separately to

it rather than to the evidence in its entirety. In considering its implications,
therefore, I urge that two pbints be borne in mind,

The first of these points is to remember what adually happened : as a result

of the instructions I gave on June 23, Acting Director Gray of the FBI did
coordinate with Director Helms and Deputy Director Walters of the CIA, The
CIA did undertake an extensive check to see whether any of its covert acti-
vities would be compromised by a full FBI investigation of Watergate. Deputy
Director Walters then reported back to Mr, Gray that they would not be
compromised, On July 6, when I called Mr, Gray, and when he expressed
concern about improper attempts to limit his investigation, as the record
shows, I told him to press ahead vigorously with his investigation -~ which he
did. .

The second point I would urge is that the evidence be looked at in its entirety,
and the events be looked at in perspective., Whatever mistakes I made in the
handling of Watergate, the basic truth remains that when all the facts were
brought to my attention I insisted on a full investigation and prosecution of
those guilty, Iam firmly convinced that the record, in its entirety, does not
justify the extreme step of impeachment and removal of a President. I trust
that as the Constitutional process goes forward, this perspective will prevail,
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PRESS CONFERENCE NO. 1
of the

PRESIDENT OF THE UNITED STATES

2:30 P.M. EDT
August 28, 1974
Wednesday

In the East Room
At the White House
Washington, D.C.

THE PRESIDENT: Please sit down. Gecod afternoon.

At the outset, I have a very important and a
very serious announcement. There was a little confusion
about the daté of this press conference. My wife, Betty, had
scheduled her first press conference for the same day.
Obviously, I had scheduled my first press conference for
this occasion. So, Betty's was postponed. '

We worked this out between us in a calm and
orderly way. She will postpone her press conference A
until next week, and until then, I will be making my own
breakfast, my own lunch and my own dinner. (Laughter)

Helen,

QUESTION: Mr. President, aside from the Special
Prosecutor's role, do you agree with the Bar Association
that the law applies equally to all men, or do you
agree with Governor Rockefeller that former President Nixon
should have immunity from prosecution, and specifically,
would you use your pardon authority,if necessary?

THE PRESIDENT: Well, let me say at the outset
that I made a statement in this room in the few moments
after the swearing-in, and on that occasion I said
the following: That I had hoped that our former President,
who brought peace to millions, would find it for himself.

Now, the expression made by Governor Rockefeller,
I think, coincides with the general view and the point of
view of the American people. I subscribe to that point of
view. But let me add, in the last ten days or two weeks I
have asked for prayers for guidance on this very important
point.

In this situation, I am the final authority.
There have been no charges made, there has been no action
by the courts, there has been no action by any jury, and
until any legal process has been undertaken, I think it is
unwise and untimely for me to make any commitment.
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Q Mr. President, you have been in office 19
days now, and already some of your naturally conservative
allies are grumbling that you are moving too far to the left.
Does this trouble you?

THE PRESIDENT: I don't think I have deviated
from my basic philoscphy nor have I deviated from what I
think is the right action. I have selected an outstanding
person to be the Vice President., I have made a decision
concerning amnesty, which I think is right and proper --
no amnesty, no revenge -- and that individuals who have
violated either the draft laws or have evaded Selective
Service or deserted can earn their way, or work their
way, back. I don't think these are views that fall in the
political spectrum right or left.

I intend to make the same kind of judgments in other
matters because I think they are right and I think they are
for the good of the country.

Q Mr., President, may I follow that with one
more example, possibly, that is there is a report the
Administration is considering a $4% billion public works
program in case the inflation rate gets higher than it is,
say six percent. Is that under consideration?

THE PRESIDENT: I think most of you do know that
we have a public service employment program on the statute
books which is funded right today, not for any major :
program,but to take care of those areas in our country where
there are limited areas of unemployment caused by the energy
crisis or any other reason.

There is a recommendation from some of my advisers
saying that if the economy gets any more serious, that this
ought to be a program, a broader, more expensive public
service program. We will approach this problem with compassion
and action if there is a need for it. '

Q S8ir, two political questions.
Do you definitely plan to run for President
in 1976, and if so, would you choose Governor Rockefeller
as your running mate, or would you leave that choice up to the
Convention's free choice?

THE PRESIDENT: I will repeat what has been said on
my behalf, that I will probably be a candidate in 1976. I
think Governor Rockefeller and myself are a good team,
but of course, the final judgment in this matter will be
that of the delegates to the national Convention.
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QUESTION: May I just follow up on Helen's
question: Are you saying, sir, that the option of a
pardon for former President Nixon is still an option that
you will consider,depending on what the courts will do.

THE PRESIDENT: Of course, I make the final deci-
sion. And until it gets to me, I make no commitment one
way or another. But I do have the right as President
of the United States to make that decision.

QUESTION: And you are not ruling it out?

THE PRESIDENT: I am not ruling it out. It is
an option and a proper option for any President.

QUESTION: Do you feel the Special Prosecutor
can in good conscience pursue cases against former top Nixon
aides as long as there is the possibility that the former
President may not also be pursued in the courts?

THE PRESIDENT: I think the Special Prosecutor,
Mr. Jaworski, has an obligation to take whatever action
he sees fit in conformity with his oath of office, and
that should include any and all individuals.

QUESTION: What do you plan to do as President
to see to it that we have no further Watergates?

THE PRESIDENT: Well, I indicated that, one,
we would have an open Administration. I will be as candid
and as forthright as I possibly can. I will expect
any individuals in my Administration to be exactly the same.
There will be no tightly controlled operation of the White
House staff. I have a policy of seeking advice from a
number of top members of my staff. There will be no one
person, nor any limited number of individuals, who make
decisions. I will make the decisions and take the blame
for them or whatever benefit might be the case.

I said in one of my speeches after the swearing
in, there would be no illegal wiretaps or there would be
none of the other things that to a degree helped to
precipitate the Watergate crisis.

QUESTION: Do you plan to set up a code of ethics
for the Executive Branch?

THE PRESIDENT: The code of ethics that will be
followed will be the example that I set.
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QUESTION: Mr., President, do you have any plans
now for immediate steps to control and curtail inflation,
even before your summit conference on the economy?

THE PRESIDENT: We have announced that as far
as fiscal control is concerned, we will spend less in
the Federal Government in the current fiscal year than
$300 billion. That is a reduction of $5 billion 500 million
at a minimum.

This, . I think, will have two effects: Number
one, it will be substantively beneficial, it will make our
borrowing from the money market less, freeing more money
for housing, for the utilities to borrow, and in addition,
I think it will convince people who might have some doubts
that we mean business.

But in the meantime, we are collecting other
ideas from labor, from management, from agriculture,
from a wide variety of the segments of our population to
see 1f they have any better ideas for us to win the battle
against inflation.

QUESTION: Mr. President, as you know, a number
of people have questioned your opposition to a return to
wage and price controls. Gardiner Ackley, a University of
Michigan economist that you have listened to in the past,
recently testified before Congress that if we are really
frightened about inflation, we ought to think about
returning to wage and price controls. -

Can you foresee any circumstances under which
you would be willing to do that and make them work?

THE PRESIDENT: I foresee no circumstances under
which I can see the reimposition of wage and price
controls. The situation is precisely this: This past
week I had a meeting with the Democratic and Republican
leadership, plus my own advisers in the field of our national
economy. -

There was an agreement, number one, that I would
not ask for any wage and price control legislation. There
was agreement by the leadership on both sides of the
aisle that there was no possibility whatsoever that this
Congress in 1974 would approve any such legislation.
Number three, labor and management almost unanimously
agree that wage and price controls at the present
time opr any foreseeable circumstances were unwise.

Under all those circumstances, it means that
wage and price controls are out, period.
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Q Can you give us your present thinking on how
best you might use Mr. Rockefeller as Vice President once
he is confirmed?

THE PRESIDENT: I have a lot of ideas. Until Con-
gress confirms Mr. Rockefeller, we are sort of in a honeymoon
period. I really shouldn’t make any commitments until we
actually get married.

But to be serious, if I might, I think Governor
Rockefeller can be extremely important in the new Administra-
tion as my teammate in doing effective work in the area of the
Domestic Council. We have to prepare legislative proposals
that will go to the Congress when the new Congress comes
back in January.

I believe that Governor Rockefeller will take
over my responsibilities heading the subcommittee of the
‘Domestic Council on privacy. Governor Rockefeller, with
his vast experience in foreign policy, can make a significant
contribution to some of our decision-making in the area of
foreign policy. Obviously, in addition, he can be helpful,

I think, in the political arena under certain guidelines
and some restrictions.

Q Mr. President, you just ruled out wage and
price controls, but I just would like to ask you why
Mr. Nixon, when he was President, felt he was compelled
to go back to them because the situation was getting out of
hand? Can you just reinforce what you told Mr. Brokaw,
why you think the situation is that much out of hand yet?
THE PRESIDENT: I can only refer you t6 the cir-
cumstances and the decision of President Nixon in August
of 1971. That was a decision he made under quite different
curcumstances. We are in totally different circumstances
today. We have gone through a 3-year period, more or less.
I think we have learned a few economic lessons that wage
and price controls in the current circumstances didn't
work, probably created more dislocations and inequities.
I see no justification today, regardless of the rightness
or wrongness of the decision in 1971, to reimpose wage
and price controls today.

Q Mr. President, you are still working with the
same team of economic advisers who advised your predecessor.
As a matter of putting your own stamp on your own administration,
perhaps spurring confidence, do you plan to change the
cast of characters?

THE PRESIDENT: There is one significant change.
Just within the last 48 hours, Herb Stein, who did a superb
job for President Nixon, is going back to the University
of Virginia, and Alan Greenspan is taking over and he has
been on board, I think two days.
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That is a distinct change. I think Mr. Greenspan
will do an excellent job. We are soliciting, through the
economic summit, the views of a great many people from the
total spectrum of the American society. Their ideas will be
vitally important in any new, innovative approaches that
we take. So, I think, between now and the 28th of September,
when I think the second day of the summit ends, we will have
the benefit of a great many wise, experienced individuals
in labor, management, agriculture, et cetera, and this
will give us, I hope, any new approaches that are wise
and beneficial.
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QUESTION: Some oil governments and some commercial
cartels, notably Aramco in Saudi Arabia are restricting
oil production in order to keep oil prices artifically
high. Now the U.S. can't do anything about Venezuela, but
it can conceivably vis a vis cartels like Aramco. What
steps and actions do you plan to take in this regard?

THE PRESIDENT: I think this points up very vividly the need
and necessity for us to accelerate every aspect of
Project Independence, I think it highlights the need
and necessity for us to proceed with more oil and gas drilling,
a greater supply domestically. I believe it points up the require-
ments that we expedite the licensing processes for new nuclear reactors.
I think it points up very dramatically the need that we expand
our geothermal, our solar research and development in the
field: of energy.

In the meantime, it seems to me that the effort
that was made several months ago to put together a group
of consumer-~industrial nations requires that this group
meet frequently and aet as much as possible in concert,
because if we have any economic adverse repercussions because of
high oil prices and poor investment policies, it could create
serious economic problems throughout the industrial world.
So it does require, I believe, the short-term action by
consumer nations and the long-term actions under Project
Independence.

QUESTION: Mr. President, 'to further pursue Helen's inquiry,
have there been any communicationsbetween the Special Prosecutor's

office and anyone on your staff regarding President Nixon?

THE PRESIDENT: Not to my knowledge.

QUESTION: Mr. President,'the beneficial effects
of budget cutting on inflation will take some time to.-
dribble down to the wage earner. What advice would you give

the wage earner todav who is having trouble stretching his
dollar over his needs.

THE PRESIDENT: I think every wage earner has to
realize we are going through a serious economic problem with
inflation in double digits, not as bad as people in many
Western European countries, but it will require him or her to
follow the example of their Federal Government which is going
to tighten its belt and likewise for an interim period of
time watch every penny.

QUESTION: Mr. President, you said last March in an
interview, I think in Seapower magazine,that you came down
quite strongly in favor of establishing a U.S.-Indian Ocean
fleet with the necessary bases to support it. Do you still stand
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THE PRESIDENT: I favor the limited expansion of
our base at Diego Garcia. I don't view this as any challenge
to the Soviet Union. The Soviet Union already has three
major naval coperating bases in the Indian Ocean. This
particular proposed construction, I think, is a wise
policy and it ought not to ignite any escalation of
problems in the Middle East.

Yes, Sarah.
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QUESTION: I want to ask about this new veterans
benefits bill which Congress passed in the last hours. I
understand this is a bill that you favored and maybe
spurred the Congress to pass. It saves $200 million.

My question is: Is that a real savings when it gives
the disabled man less money than an able man and disrupts
completely the veterans going to college in September?

THE PRESIDENT: I had no part in just how
that House action was taken. I did discuss;coming back
from the VFW meeting in Chicago, with a number of Members
of the House and Senate, the problem that I faced with the
bill that came out of conference, which would have added
$780-~some million over and above the budget for this year and
a substantial increase for a number of succeeding years.

But that particular compromise was put together
and brought to the Floor of the House without any
participation by me. I think there are some good provisions
in that particular House action. It does tend to equalize
the benefits for Vietnam veterans with the benefits
that were given to World War II and to Korean veterans.

There are some, I think, inequities, and you
probably pointed out one. I hope when the Congress
reconvenes within a week or so that they will go back
to conference, take a good look and hopefully eliminate
any inequities and keep the price down because it is
inflationary the way it was and it may be the way it was
proposed by the House.

QUESTION: Mr. President, concerning the Federal
budget, will domestic social programs have to bear the
whole brunt of the anti-inflation fight or can
some money come out of the defense bpudget, and if so,
how much? '

THE PRESIDENT: No budget for any department is
sacrosanct, and that includes the defense budget. I
insist, however, that sufficient money be made available
to the Army, the Navy and the Air Force so that we are
strong militarily for the purpose of deterring war or
meeting any challenge by any adversary. But if there
is any fat in the defense budget, it ought to be cut out
by Congress or eliminated by the Secretary of Defense.

In the meantime, all other departments must be
scrutinized carefully sc¢ that they don't have any fat
and marginal programs are eliminated.

Mrs. Tufty?
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QUESTION: Mr. President, you have given top
priority to inflation. Do you have a list of priorities
and if so, what is number two?

THE PRESIDENT: Well, of course, public enemy
number one, and that is the one whe have to lick, is
inflation. If we take care of inflation and get our economy
back on the road to a healthy future, I think most of our
other domestic programs or problems will be solved.

We won't have high unemployment. We will have
ample job opportinuties. We will, I believe, give greater
opportunities to minorities to have jobs. If we can lick
inflation, and we are going to try, and I think we are going
to have a good program, most of our other domestic programs
will be solved:

QUESTION: Do you have any plans to revive the
Office of Economic Opportunity, and if so, in what areas?

THE PRESIDENT: As I am sure you know, the old
poverty program has been significantly changed over
the last several years. The Headstart program has been
taken out of OE0 and turned over to the Department of
HEW. The healthaspects of the old poverty program are
also over in HEW.

The Congress just approved, and Mr. leon
approved, a Legal Services Corporation, which was another
part of the old poverty program. So, we end up really
with just CAP, the Community Action Program.

I think most people who have objectively looked
at the Community Action Program and the model cities
program and maybe some of the other similar programs,
there is duplication, there is overlapping.

And under the new housing and urban development
bill, local communities are given substantial sums to
take a look at the model cities programs and related
programs, and they may be able to take up the slack of the
ending of the Community Action Programs.
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QUESTION: Mr. President, my question applies to
a 1972 statement in which you said that an impediment
to a regional peace settlement is an impediment to
preserve the fiction that Jerusalem is not the capital of
Israel. My question, sir, is would you, now that you set
foreign policy,request that the Embassy be shifted from
Tel Aviv to Jerusalem along with 17 other national Embassies?

THE PRESIDENT: Under the current circumstance
and the importance of getting a just and lasting peace in the
Middle East, I think that particular proposal ought to stand
aside, We must come up with some answers between Israel
and the Arab nations in order to achieve a peace that is both
fair and durable.

QUESTION: Mr. President, do you contemplate any
changes in our policy with Cuba? ~

THE PRESIDENT: The policy that we have toward Cuba
today is determined by the sanctions voted by the Organization
of American States and we abide by those actions that were
taken by the members of that organization.

Now if Cuba changes its policy toward us and toward
its Latin neighbors, we, of course, would exercise the option
depending on what the changes were to change our policy. But
before we made any change, we would certainly act in concert
with the other members of the Organization of American States.

- QUESTION: Mr. President, you have emphasized
here your option of granting a pardon to the former President.

St

THE PRESIDENT: I intend to.

QUESTION: You intend to have that option. If an
indictment is brought, would you grant a pardon before any
trial took place?

THE PRESIDENT: I said at the outset that until the
matter reaches me, I am not going to make any comment during
the process of whatever charges are made.

QUESTION: Mr. President, two questions related,
how long will the transition last, in your opinion, and,
secondly, how soon would it be proper and fair for Democrats
on the campaign +pail this fall to hold you accountable for
the economic policy and’ the economic problems +he country
faces?

THE PRESIDENT: I can't judge what the Democrats
are going to say about my policies., They have been very
friendly so far and very cooperative. I think it is a fair
statement that our problems domestically, our economic
problems, are the joint responsibility of Government. As
a matter of fact, I think the last poll indicated that most
Americans felt that our difficulties were caused by Government
action and that, of course, includes the President and
the Democratic Congress. So we are all in this boat together along
with labor and management and everybody else. I don't think
making partisan politics out of a serious domestic problem is
good politics.
: MORE
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: QUESTION: Mr, President, in your fightbagainst
inflation, what, if anything, do you intend to do about the next
Federal pay raise?

THE PRESIDENT: I have made no judgment on that yet,
the recommendation has not come to my desk.

QUESTION: Mr. Pfesident, when do you expect the
SALT talks to resume? Is there disagreement over our position
in the Pentagon and the State Department and other agencies?

THE PRESIDENT: At the present time, there is an
effort being made to ppring the Department of Defense, the
State Department and any others together for a resolution of
our, the United States position regarding SALT 2. This
decision will be made in the relatively near future. I
don't think there is any basic difficulties that cannot be
resolved internally within our Government. I believe that
Secretary Kissinger is going to be meeting with representatives
from the Soviet Union in the near future, I think in October,
if my memory is correct, and we, of course, will then proceed
~on a timetable to try and negotiate SALT 2. I think a
properly negotiated effective strategic arms limitation
agreement is in the best interests of ourselves, the Soviet
Union and a stable international situation.

»
THE PRESS: Thank you, Mr. President.

END (AT 2:59 P.M. EDT)






